**RECEIVED**

**Sep 24 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Marion County  
Court of Common Pleas  
H. Steven DeBerry IV, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2022-CP-33-00183  
Appellate Case No. 2023-001712

---

Rebecca C. Hagood  
as Personal Representative of the Estate of Frank D. Chavis, Sr.,

Respondent,

v.

Palmetto Faith Operating, LLC  
d/b/a Faith Healthcare Center and  
Brooks Arnette,

Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP  
Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No. 66468)  
D. Jay Davis, Jr. (SC Bar No. 12084)  
Matthew O. Riddle (SC Bar No. 76650)

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

**I. Did the circuit court err in denying Appellants’<sup>1</sup> motions to compel Plaintiff’s<sup>2</sup> claims to arbitration?<sup>3</sup>**

**A. Did the circuit court err in rejecting Appellants’ merger/equitable estoppel argument? More specifically, should the circuit court have found (1) that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and (2) that, because Mr. Chavis effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith—and, thus, granted Appellants’ motions to compel arbitration?**

**1. Is the circuit court’s merger analysis erroneous?**

**(a) Did the circuit court err in relying on *Solesbee v. Fundamental Clinical and Operational Services, LLC*<sup>4</sup>—indeed, is the *Solesbee* Court’s merger analysis itself erroneous—and should *Solesbee* control the disposition of this case?**

**(b) Did the circuit court misstate the burden on Appellants with respect to their merger/equitable estoppel argument when it stated “[Appellants] must prove a**

---

<sup>1</sup> “Appellants” refers, collectively, to Defendants/Appellants, Palmetto Faith Operating, LLC d/b/a Faith Healthcare Center (the “Facility”) and Brooks Arnette (“Arnette”). The Facility is a skilled nursing facility.

<sup>2</sup> “Plaintiff” refers to Rebecca C. Hagood as Personal Representative of the Estate of Frank D. Chavis, Sr. Rebecca C. Hagood is the daughter of the decedent Frank D. Chavis, Sr. (“Mr. Chavis”), and in her individual capacity, she is referred to as “Mrs. Hagood” or, as she is also known, “Becky Stokes” or “Rebecca C. Stokes,” which is the name under which she signed (on behalf of Mr. Chavis) the Admission Agreement, Arbitration Agreement, and Readmission Agreement at issue.

<sup>3</sup> To be clear, out of an abundance of caution, this issue and the corresponding argument includes not only Appellants’ challenge to the circuit court’s denial of their respective principal motions but also their challenge to the circuit court’s denial of reconsideration with respect to their respective principal motions.

<sup>4</sup> 438 S.C. 638, 885 S.E.2d 144 (Ct. App. 2023).

**valid and enforceable arbitration agreement was signed in a ‘knowing, voluntary and intentional’ capacity”?**

**(c) Given that the FAA<sup>5</sup> requires arbitration agreements to be placed on equal footing with all other contracts under South Carolina law:**

**(i) Do the propositions cited by the circuit court about “interpreting a jury trial waiver narrowly” and giving the party opposing arbitration “the benefit of all reasonable doubts and inferences that may arise” violate the FAA?**

**(ii) Is the purported rule, cited by the circuit court, that “[w]hen a facility knows a resident is competent at the time of admission and is allowed to sign other forms, the resident should sign the arbitration agreement” in fact a rule? And even assuming, *arguendo*, it is, does it violate the FAA?**

**2. Is the circuit court’s equitable estoppel analysis erroneous?**

**B. Out of an abundance of caution, to the extent that the circuit court ruled that the Arbitration Agreement is not enforceable as to wrongful death beneficiaries, did it err?**

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

With the help of Mrs. Hagood, his daughter, Mr. Chavis was admitted as a resident of the Facility on March 14, 2019. (R. pp. 153–164.) Mrs. Hagood handled the paperwork in conjunction with the admission, and in so doing, she signed an Admission Agreement<sup>6</sup> and an Arbitration Agreement<sup>7</sup> on Mr. Chavis’s behalf.

---

<sup>5</sup> The “FAA” refers to the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq.

<sup>6</sup> (R. pp. 153–164.)

When Mr. Chavis was briefly discharged and then readmitted to the Facility in April 2019,<sup>8</sup> Mrs. Hagood signed a Readmission Agreement on his behalf. (R. pp. 183–184.) By its express terms, the Readmission Agreement “reaffirm[s] the terms of the original Admission Agreement” and “acknowledge[s] that [it] does not replace or supercede the original Admission Agreement.” (R. pp. 183–184.)

Plaintiff filed this wrongful death and survival action against Appellants in the Marion County Court of Common Pleas on April 4, 2022. (R. pp. 16–56.) Appellants timely answered Plaintiff’s operative complaint on June 8, 2022, denying the alleged liability, raising numerous affirmative defenses, and expressly reserving the right to compel arbitration, which they also raised as an affirmative defense. (R. pp. 57–79.)

On July 13, 2022, Appellants moved to compel Plaintiff’s claims to arbitration based on the Arbitration Agreement Mrs. Hagood signed on behalf of Mr. Chavis in conjunction with his admission to the Facility (collectively, the “Motions to Compel Arbitration”). (R. pp. 127–128, 130–131, 288–328.)<sup>9</sup>

---

<sup>7</sup> (R. p. 129.)

<sup>8</sup> Specifically, Mr. Chavis was discharged on April 5<sup>th</sup> and readmitted on April 17<sup>th</sup>, 2019. (R. p. 133.)

<sup>9</sup> Without question, Plaintiff’s claims against Appellants are within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement, the plain language of which calls for arbitration of “any controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to [the] Facility’s Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to [Mr. Chavis’s] stay at [the] Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to [Mr. Chavis] . . . .” (R. p. 129.) But even if there were “any doubts concerning the scope

Following a hearing on August 21, 2023,<sup>10</sup> the circuit court, the Honorable H. Steven DeBerry IV, presiding, denied the Motions to Compel Arbitration by order filed September 8, 2023. (R. pp. 1–13.) Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, on September 18, 2023, Appellants timely moved the circuit court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its decision,<sup>11</sup> and the circuit court denied that motion by order filed October 2, 2023. (R. pp. 14–15.)

By notice served and filed November 1, 2023, this appeal timely follows. (R. pp. 359–365.)

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

A circuit court’s determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). “Under de novo review, a circuit

---

of arbitrable issues[,] [they] should be resolved in favor of arbitration . . . .” *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 41, 524 S.E.2d 839, 846 (Ct. App. 1999); *see also Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001) (“[U]nless the court can say with positive assurance that the arbitration clause is not susceptible to an interpretation that covers the dispute, arbitration should be ordered.”). There is likewise no question that the Arbitration Agreement covers Arnette as it does the Facility. Besides the Facility itself, the Arbitration Agreement also covers “its agents, employee and servants” (R. p. 129), and Plaintiff’s operative complaint expressly alleges that Arnette “was at all material times the Administrator of the Facility.” (R. p. 42 ¶ 4.)

<sup>10</sup> (R. pp. 80–126.)

<sup>11</sup> (R. pp. 329–358.)

court's factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings." *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the circuit court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within circuit court's discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem'l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The circuit court erred in denying the Motions to Compel Arbitration.**

- A. The circuit court erred in rejecting Appellants' merger/equitable estoppel argument. The circuit court should have found (1) that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and (2) that, because Mr. Chavis effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith—and, thus, granted the Motions to Compel Arbitration.**

The core question here is this: Is the Arbitration Agreement (which Mrs. Hagood signed for Mr. Chavis) enforceable against Mr. Chavis—or, more precisely, against Plaintiff, i.e., Mr. Chavis's estate—even though it was not signed by Mr. Chavis himself? The answer is yes. The Arbitration Agreement is enforceable against Plaintiff—or, more precisely, Plaintiff is estopped to deny that the Arbitration Agreement (and, for that matter, the Admission Agreement) is enforceable.

**1. The circuit court's merger analysis is erroneous.**

In *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, even though our Supreme Court found against merger on the particular *facts* of the case, it nonetheless confirmed the validity of the general proposition of *law* on which the *Coleman* appellants based their merger/equitable estoppel argument:

Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] under the [South Carolina Adult Health Care Consent] Act, she is nevertheless equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration agreement's] enforceability. The circuit court held there was no estoppel here, and we agree.

Appellants' equitable estoppel argument is premised on their contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged. In South Carolina,

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.

*Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Dev. Corp.*, 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977).

Here, *the documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. Unless there is a contrary intention, appellants are correct that there was a merger.*

407 S.C. 346, 354–55, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (emphasis added).

Here, the circuit court erred in rejecting Appellants’ merger argument, failing to recognize material differences between the facts and arguments involved in the instant case and those that controlled (or were simply not addressed in) *Coleman* and its progeny *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016), and *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018).<sup>12</sup>

The circuit court wrongly concluded that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement are separate contracts that do not merge. (R. pp. 9–11.) The merger question examines whether, “where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction,”<sup>13</sup> as undoubtedly the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement were here,<sup>14</sup> there is evidence to upset the *presumption in favor of*

---

<sup>12</sup> The circuit court also erred in its reliance on the more recent case of *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. 638, 885 S.E.2d 144, which is separately addressed below.

<sup>13</sup> *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

<sup>14</sup> To be clear, *Coleman* unequivocally answers the question of whether the instant Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction: they were. As the *Coleman* Court expressly observed regarding the admission and arbitration agreements before it (which in *this* respect—but not in respect of the material facts bearing on the question of whether the presumption of merger is rebutted—are no different from the instant agreements), “the documents were executed at *the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction.*” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

*merger*, i.e., the presumption that the instruments were intended to be construed together as effectively one contract. This is a question of intention. *Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“in the absence of anything indicating a contrary *intention* . . .”) (emphasis added). And “in attempting to ascertain th[e] [parties’] intention,” our courts “endeavor to determine the situation of the parties, as well as their purposes, at the time the contract was entered into.” *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 89, 232 S.E.2d at 25.

It must be remembered that, where, as here, the instruments in question were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, merger is *presumed*. For the merger presumption to mean anything in practice it cannot be upset based on mere conjecture, but only by actual evidence that—notwithstanding the concurrence of all the particular circumstances necessary for the presumption to even arise in the first place (same time, parties, purpose, and transaction)—can nonetheless support a reasonable, non-speculative inference that the parties’ intention was contrary to merger. *Cf. The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 188, 617 S.E.2d 125, 130 (“[V]erdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”). No such inference can be drawn here. Indeed, under the circumstances, the very idea that there would have been an intention contrary to merger does not make sense.

Unlike the arbitration agreements at issue in *Coleman*, *Thompson*, and *Hodge*, all of which contained a provision allowing them to be disclaimed or

revoked within 30 days of signing while the corresponding admission agreements did not, the instant Arbitration Agreement has no disclaimer/revocation provision. (R. p. 129.) Moreover, while the instant Admission Agreement does contain an “Entire Agreement” clause, it does not reference the Arbitration Agreement as a separate contract. (R. p. 164.) Indeed, directly contradicting the idea of “separatedness” (in the parlance of the *Coleman* Court<sup>15</sup>), the “Entire Agreement” clause in the instant Admission Agreement expressly states that “other Admissions materials” are part of the Admission Agreement, thereby expressly contemplating the lack of its own supposed “separatedness.” (R. p. 164.) Without question, the plain and ordinary meaning of the language “other Admissions materials” is such as to embrace the Arbitration Agreement. *See Stott v. White Oak Manor, Inc.*, 426 S.C. 568, 571–72, 828 S.E.2d 82, 84 (Ct. App. 2019) (“The same day as Decedent’s admission to White Oak, Stott, acting as Decedent’s authorized representative, signed White Oak’s admission documentation—including the Arbitration Agreement.”) (emphasis added) (internal footnote omitted); *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 550, 813 S.E.2d at 295 (“Her husband . . . executed various documents *related to her admission*, including an *Arbitration Agreement* and an *Admission*

---

<sup>15</sup> 407 S.C. at 356, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (explaining how, in *Coleman*—unlike the instant case—the “Entire Agreement” clause expressly referred to a separate arbitration agreement and, thus, “recognize[d] the ‘*separatedness*’ of the [arbitration agreement] and the admission agreement, not a merger of the two contracts.”) (emphasis added).

*Agreement.*”) (emphasis added)).<sup>16</sup> And any notion that there is ambiguity in this regard is unsupported and erroneous.

To be sure, the Arbitration Agreement was optional, i.e., agreeing to arbitration was not required as a precondition of Mr. Chavis’s residency at the Facility. But all this means is that the Arbitration Agreement did not have to be executed at all. It does not mean that the Arbitration Agreement did not become part of the admissions materials once it was in fact executed. Indeed, the fact that the Arbitration Agreement was not required for admission underscores its *connectedness* to the Admission Agreement. The two go together hand in glove. Without the hand (the Admission Agreement), there is no reason for the glove (the Arbitration Agreement).

---

<sup>16</sup> To be clear, Appellants’ point here is not that the holding of either *Stott* or *Hodge* established a legal standard for what counts as admission paperwork, but rather that the very fact that the language that the *Stott* and *Hodge* Courts used in discussing the facts of the cases so readily made the natural and logical connection between arbitration agreements signed in conjunction with admission and “admission documentation” / “documents related to . . . admission” that it illustrates that, in its plain, ordinary, and popular sense, “Admissions materials” plainly includes the Arbitration Agreement. See *Beaufort Cnty. Sch. Dist. v. United Nat’l Ins. Co.*, 392 S.C. 506, 516, 709 S.E.2d 85, 90 (Ct. App. 2011) (“If the contract’s language is clear and unambiguous, the language alone, understood in its plain, ordinary, and popular sense, determines the contract’s force and effect.”). Moreover, this connection between the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement (with the Arbitration Agreement being understood in the plain, ordinary, and popular sense as included in the term “Admissions materials”) is underscored by the *Coleman* Court’s recognition that an admission agreement and arbitration agreement signed in conjunction with resident’s admission to a nursing facility are indeed “executed at the same time, by the same parties, *for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction.*” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

Moreover, while it is true that the Arbitration Agreement is not necessary to the Admission Agreement, the converse is not true: The Admission Agreement *is* necessary to the Arbitration Agreement. That is, the Admission Agreement *could* have stood on its own, i.e., without the Arbitration Agreement ever having been executed, in which case no question of merger would have even arisen to begin with—but that is not what happened. The Arbitration Agreement was in fact executed, and it was executed under the particular circumstances that give rise to the presumption of merger—same time, parties, purpose, and transaction—but unlike the Admission Agreement, which is capable of making sense either standing alone or together with the Arbitration Agreement, *the Arbitration Agreement only makes sense together with the Admission Agreement*, which is its (the Arbitration Agreement’s) sole reason for being. (R. p. 129 (providing for arbitration of “any controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to [the] Facility’s Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to [Mr. Chavis’s] stay at [the] Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to [Mr. Chavis] . . . .”); R. p. 129. (“This [Arbitration] Agreement shall remain in effect for all care rendered at [the] Facility . . . .”).)

Even though the Arbitration Agreement was not a *condition* of admission, it was agreed to in *conjunction* with admission, whereupon it was intended to be considered and construed together with the Admission Agreement, such that the

two were effectively one instrument governing various interrelated aspects of Mr. Chavis's relationship with the Facility, the Admission Agreement setting forth the terms of his admission, the Arbitration Agreement providing for arbitration of disputes arising out of his admission. (*Compare* R. pp. 153–164 (setting forth the terms of Mr. Chavis's admission to the Facility) *with* R. p. 129 (providing for arbitration of disputes arising out of Mr. Chavis's admission in the Facility).)

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