RECEIVED

Sep 20 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM MARION COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, IV

Appellate Case No. 2023-001712
Trial Court Case No. 2022CP3300183

Rebecca C. Hagood as Personal Representative
of the Estate of Frank D. Chavis, Sr.,

Respondent.

v.

Palmetto Faith Operating, LLC
d/b/a Faith Healthcare Center and
Brooks Arnette,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

HAWK LAW GROUP
A. Keith McAlister, Jr., SC Bar No. 78213
156 Laurens Street, NW
Aiken, South Carolina 29801
P: (803) 226-9089
F: (866) 295-0234
kmealister@hawklawgroup.com
Attorney for Respondent

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

ARGUMENT

This case arises out of Appellants’ negligent care of Mr. Chavis that resulted in his death. His daughter and personal representative, Respondent, initiated this action in Circuit Court seeking survival and wrongful death damages for Mr. Chavis’ injuries and death. Appellants seek to enforce arbitration of those claims based on an Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement executed by Respondent, even though she lacked requisite authority, after Mr. Chavis’ admission to the Facility. As briefed to the Circuit Court, argued at the hearing, and as explained below, the arbitration provisions of the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement are invalid and unenforceable because Respondent lacked authority, actual or apparent, to execute the subject Arbitration Agreement. Moreover, the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were separate and distinct and do not merge. Importantly, this Court previously ruled against the “same form documents” at issue in this case. *Est. of Solesbee v. Fundamental Clinical & Operational Servs., LLC*, 438 S.C. 638, 648-49, 885 S.E.2d 144, 149 (Ct. App. 2023) (*cert. denied* April 16, 2024). Since that opinion, the South Carolina Supreme Court declined a petition for writ of certiorari by the *Solesbee* appellants affirming this Court’s holding.

While there is a presumption in favor of arbitration agreements, including those contracts governed by the Federal Arbitration Act (FAA), this presumption only applies where a valid

arbitration agreement exists. *EEOC v. Waffle House*, 534 U.S. 279, 293-294, 122 S.Ct. 754, 764 (4th Cir. 2014). If the existence of a valid agreement or clause is disputed, the “presumption disappears.” *Dumais v. Am. Golf Corp.*, 299 F.3d 1216, 1220 (10th Cir. 2002); *Riley Mfg. Co., Inc. v. Anchor Glass Container Corp.*, 157 F.3d 775, 779 (10th Cir.1998) (“[W]hen the dispute is whether there is a valid and enforceable arbitration agreement in the first place, the presumption of arbitrability falls away.”). Appellants then bear the burden of establishing the existence of a valid contract, *Hinson-Barr, Inc. v. Pinckard*, 292 S.C. 267, 268, 356 S.E.2d 115, 116 (1987), and to prove that waiver of Respondent’s fundamental right to a jury trial was knowing, voluntary, and intentional. *Leasing Serv. Corp. v. Crane*, 804 F.2d 828, 833 (4th Cir. 1986); *Dreiling v. Peugeot Motors of Am., Inc.*, 539 F. Supp. 402, 403 (D. Colo. 1982).

“Congress did not intend for the FAA to force parties who [have] not agreed to arbitrate into a non-judicial forum.” *Sydnor v. Conseco Fin. Servicing Corp.*, 252 F.3d 302, 305 (4th Cir. 2001); 9 U.S.C. § 4. “The FAA thereby places arbitration agreements on an equal footing with other contracts,” which “may be invalidated by generally applicable contract defenses.” *Rent-A-Ctr., W., Inc. v. Jackson*, 561 U.S. 63, 67-68, 130 S. Ct. 2772, 2776 (2010). Under the FAA, contract formation remains “a matter of judicial determination,” and the trial court must “consider general [state-law] contract defenses to ensure a meeting of the minds to arbitrate existed, and that such an agreement was not the result of fraud, duress, [or] unconscionability.” *York v. Dodgeland*, 406 S.C. 67, 78, 749 S.E.2d 1139, 145 (2013) (citing *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 593, 553 S.E.2d 110, 116 (2001)); See also *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 388, 759 S.E.2d 727, 736 n. 13 (2014) (The court “must engage in a full inquiry . . . prior to any attempt to enforce the [a]greement,” including “whether there was a meeting of the minds between the parties.”). When faced with a motion to compel arbitration that is opposed

based on enforceability of the contract, the opposing party is given “the benefit of all reasonable doubts and inferences that may arise.” *Par-Knit Mills, Inc. v. Stockbridge Fabrics Co., Ltd.*, 636 F.2d 51, 54 (3d Cir. 1980).

The Facility’s Motion sought to deny Respondent the constitutionally guaranteed right to a jury trial based upon an invalid arbitration contract. Arbitration may be favored by Federal law but only when the parties voluntarily agree to it. Here, Mr. Chavis was not present at the Facility when Appellants’ employee presented the Arbitration Agreement for signature, and Appellants concede Mr. Chavis never conveyed his authority to any Facility representative that Respondent was permitted to bind he (his estate or wrongful death beneficiaries) to arbitration. Evidence also shows that Mrs. Hagood was not appointed power of attorney at that time.

Additionally, South Carolina appellate courts have repeatedly rejected nearly all of the legal and equitable theories the Appellants now propose to manufacture a binding contract. In fact, Appellants concede this Court “affirmed the denial of a motion to compel arbitration” in *Solesbee* regarding the “same form documents” at issue. Consequently, the Appellants have failed to meet their burden to show a valid arbitration agreement exists and no merger applies.

I. Appellants Cannot Show a Valid and Enforceable Contract Exists because Mrs. Hagood Lacked Actual and Apparent Authority to Execute the Arbitration Agreement.

Appellants contend Mr. Chavis’ estate and statutory beneficiaries must arbitrate their claims against Appellants, but Mr. Chavis never agreed to do so. In arguing merger, Appellants attempt to circumvent the threshold issue of authority. Mr. Chavis never signed or otherwise assented to the Arbitration Agreement on which the Appellants rely to support their Motion. Mrs. Hagood’s signature on the Arbitration Agreement is ineffective because she did not have authority to bind Mr. Chavis to the arbitration contract. Like *Solesbee*, the Appellants cannot establish

agency, either actual or apparent, because there was no power of attorney and the Facility's representative did not ask Mrs. Hagood for proof of authority to act on Mr. Chavis' behalf. *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. 643, n. 4. Therefore, the Appellants cannot establish that a valid and enforceable contract exists.

A. Mrs. Hagood Lacked Actual Authority.

Actual authority is that which is “expressly conferred upon the agent by the principal.” *Charleston, S.C. Registry v. Young Clement Rivers & Tisdale*, 359 S.C. 635, 642, 598 S.E.2d 717, 721 (2004). “A party asserting agency as a basis of liability must prove the existence of the agency, and the agency must be clearly established by the facts.” *Frasier v. Palmetto Homes of Florence, Inc.*, 323 S.C. 240, 244, 473 S.E.2d 865, 867 (Ct. App. 1996) (quoting *Orphan Aid Society v. Jenkins*, 294 S.C. 106, 109, 362 S.E.2d 885, 887 (Ct. App. 1987)). “It is the duty of one dealing with an agent to use due care to ascertain the scope of the agent's authority.” *Id.*

In South Carolina, a power of attorney is generally recognized to provide such “actual authority.” Power of attorney means a “writing or other record that grants authority to an agent to act in the place of the principal, whether or not the term ‘power of attorney’ is used.” S.C. Code Ann. § 62-8-102(7) (emphasis added). The “principal” is “an individual with contractual capacity who grants authority to an agent in a power of attorney.” S.C. Code Ann. § 62-8-102(9). The “agent” is a “person granted authority to act for a principal under a power of attorney, whether denominated an agent, attorney-in-fact, or otherwise.” S.C. Code Ann. § 62-8-102(1).

As set forth in *Stott*, the power of attorney is an instrument that confers upon the agent “authority to perform certain specified acts or kinds of acts on behalf of the principal.” *Stott v. White Oak Manor, Inc.*, 426 S.C. 568, 573, 828 S.E.2d 82, 85 (Ct. App. 2019) (quoting *Watson v. Underwood*, 407 S.C. 443, 454, 756 S.E.2d 155, 161 (Ct. App. 2014)). “The written authorization

itself is the power of attorney.” *Id.* Moreover, the power of attorney must be recorded as a deed to become effective. *Id.* at 574; *See also* S.C. Code Ann. § 62-8-109(c).

Here, Mrs. Hagood did not have power of attorney for her father at the time the Arbitration Agreement was executed. (R. p. 173, lines 11-19). She later acquired a healthcare power of attorney, but it was not properly recorded. (R. p. 174, line 13-p. 175, line 6). Importantly, the Appellants’ representative, Kelly Dials, made no attempt to ascertain the scope of Mrs. Hagood’s supposed actual authority. (R. p. 207, lines 12-16). Moreover, the Appellants’ representative tasked with admitting new residents stated she does not decide the scope of an agent’s authority. (R. p. 221, lines 1-4). She also presented no form to authorize a family member to sign the arbitration agreement without a power of attorney. (R. p. 222, line 21-p. 223, line 5). As a result, the Arbitration Agreement is unenforceable for lack of actual authority.

B. Mrs. Hagood Lacked Apparent Authority.

“[A]pparent authority is that which, though not actually granted, the principal knowingly permits the agent to exercise, or which the principal holds the agent out as possessing.” *Young Clement Rivers*, 359 S.C. at 642. The existence of apparent authority depends upon “manifestations by the principal to the third party and the reasonable belief by the third party that the agent is authorized to bind the principal.” *Id.* The “proper focus” in analyzing a claim of apparent authority is the relationship “between the principal and the third party.” *Id.* at 642-43. Further, “an agency may not be established solely by the declarations and conduct of an alleged agent.” *Id.* at 643; *citing Frasier*, 323 S.C. at 245.

To show apparent authority, Appellants must establish: “(1) that the purported principal consciously or impliedly represented another to be his agent; (2) that there was a reliance upon the representation; and (3) that there was a change of position to the relying party’s detriment.” *Graves*

v. Serbin Farms, Inc., 306 S.C. 60, 63, 409 S.E.2d 769, 771 (1991). “Apparent authority to do an act is created as to a third person by written or spoken words or any other conduct of the principal which, reasonably interpreted, causes the third person to believe the principal consents to have the act done on his behalf by the person purporting to act for him.” *Frasier*, 323 S.C. 244-45. “[I]t is not enough simply to prove that the purported principal by either affirmative conduct or conscious and voluntary inaction has represented another to be his agent or servant.” *Id.* at 245.

Here, there is no evidence Mr. Chavis, as principal, either consciously or impliedly, represented that Mrs. Hagood was his agent. There is also no evidence he created any apparent authority by written or spoken word to the Facility. To the contrary, Ms. Dials testified she relied solely upon representations of the hospital and confirmed Mr. Chavis never communicated or conveyed any authority to her with respect to his family before the subject agreement was signed. (R. p. 206, line 24-p. 209, line 1). In fact, Ms. Dials confirmed she did not interact with Mr. Chavis at any point prior to his admission to the Facility or execution of the purported Arbitration Agreement. (R. p. 209, lines 2-5).

Moreover, Mrs. Hagood testified that her father was not present during the admissions process. (R. p. 178, line 24-p. 179, line 1). Mrs. Hagood also confirmed that she never discussed the admissions paperwork, including the purported Arbitration Agreement, with her father. (R. p. 180, lines 12-14). Because Mr. Chavis never interacted with the Facility prior to the execution of the purported Arbitration Agreement and was not present when it was signed, no apparent authority was conveyed or could have been conveyed; therefore, the Arbitration Agreement is unenforceable.

C. Mrs. Hagood Also Lacked Authority to Sign the Readmission Agreement.

At the time the Readmission Agreement was signed, Mrs. Hagood still lacked a valid power of attorney to waive Mr. Chavis' Constitutional right to a jury trial. First, there is no record evidence of a valid power of attorney existed which authorized Mrs. Hagood to act to waive Mr. Chavis' rights. There is no record evidence that any durable power of attorney was properly recorded as prescribed by S.C. Code Ann. §§ 62-5-501(C) or 62-8-109(c). *Stott*, 426 S.C. at 574. There is also no record evidence a healthcare power of attorney existed which was in substantially the same form as S.C. Code Ann. § 62-5-504(D) or that authorized a jury trial waiver. *Stott*, 426 S.C. at 576. Therefore, Mrs. Hagood lacked actual authority to act on Mr. Chavis' behalf. *See Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 573-74, 813 S.E.2d 292, 307 (Ct. App. 2018).

Mrs. Hagood also lacked apparent authority. There is no indication that Mr. Chavis was present for the readmission process to the Facility. Mr. Chavis also never conveyed to the Facility by words or conduct that he consented to Mrs. Hagood acting on his behalf. To the contrary, evidence shows that Mr. Chavis was capable of making his own decisions. *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 574.

On March 15, 2019, the Facility's record states Mr. Chavis was "able to communicate his thoughts and wants to staff" and expressed "his desires to notify his son of his plans." (R. p. 271). When Mrs. Hagood tried to intervene, the Facility "explained to [Mrs. Hagood] the resident has rights to communicate with others if he shall desire." *Id.* This is consistent with the Facility reliance upon Mr. Chavis to sign other forms upon his admission, including a Medicare form on March 15, 2019. (R. p. 272). Consequently, Mrs. Hagood lacked actual or apparent authority to sign the Readmission Agreement.

II. The Independent and Invalid Arbitration Agreement Does Not Merge with the Admission Agreement.

Despite arguments to the contrary, Mr. Chavis' presence at the Facility does not estop the estate from contesting arbitration under South Carolina or Federal equitable estoppel principles. The Admission Agreement and Arbitration are clearly separate contracts with distinct provisions that serve different purposes. Appellants' appeal regurgitates failed arguments of merger that have been consistently decided by this Court and our Supreme Court.

Here, the Circuit Court properly relied upon clear and binding precedent in denying the underlying Motion. *Est. of Solesbee v. Fundamental Clinical & Operational Servs., LLC*, 438 S.C. 638, 885 S.E.2d 144 (Ct. App. 2023) (cert. denied April 16, 2024). In fact, in their brief, Appellants argue the *Solesbee* merger analysis was erroneous; however, since that time, our Supreme Court declined the *Solesbee* petition for writ of certiorari. Therefore, the Appellants' argument is mooted, and the Circuit Court's findings should be affirmed.

A. The Terms and Context Show the Parties Intended the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement to Remain Separate Contracts.

In this case, the language and circumstances show the parties intended the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement be construed as separate contracts. As explained by our Supreme Court in *Coleman*, the merger doctrine is not applicable when language in the contracts "recognized the 'separateness' of the admission and arbitration agreements." *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 355, 755 S.E.2d 455, 455 (2014). Moreover, our appellate courts in *Thompson* and *Hodge*, applying *Coleman*, provided further clarification with factors demonstrating "separateness", which prevent merger. *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 52, 784 S.E.2d 679, 684 (Ct. App. 2016); *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 563.

For example, an admission contract with an "Entirety of Agreement" provision is separate "on its face" from an arbitration contract especially where the provision identifies the two contracts

distinctly – i.e. “this Admission Agreement or in the Arbitration Agreement.” *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355. Likewise, when the arbitration and admission contracts have different pagination with different signature pages and the arbitration contract has “Arbitration Agreement” atop its first page, these factors further “indicate the parties’ intent for it to stand by itself as an independent contract.” *Thompson*, 416 S.C. at 53 n. 1; *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 562-63. Separateness is further demonstrated when the nursing home makes clear that agreeing to arbitrate is not required to gain admission to the home. *Thompson*, 416 S.C. at 53. Moreover, if the “Entirety” clause creates ambiguity, “the law is clear that any ambiguity in such a clause is construed against the drafter” – Appellants in this instance. *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355-56.

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